I. INTRODUCTION 

On March 25, 2103, Mark Mullan, while drunk, drove his vehicle 

into a family crossing a neighborhood street. As a direct consequence of 

Mullan's actions, plaintiff Karina Ulriksen-Schulte and her infant son, 

Elias, were critically injured. Dennis and Judith Schulte, Elias' 

grandparents, were killed. 

At the time of this crash, Mullan was midway through the first 90-

day review period of his probation with Seattle Municipal Court following 

his conviction on a DUI charge 75 days earlier. Relying on Hertog v. City 

of Seattle, 138 Wn.2d 265, 979 P.2d 400 (1999), plaintiffs brought suit 

against the City of Seattle ("the City"), alleging generally "unlawful 

conduct" by the municipal court's probation department over those 75 

days in "failing to supervise, monitor, and enforce the terms and 

conditions of Mullan's probation[.]" More specifically, plaintiffs alleged 

that probation counselor Stacey Lamond was grossly negligent by (1) 

failing to verify that Mullan comply with State ignition interlock licensing 

restrictions and (2) not seeking out collateral sources to verify the 

truthfulness ofMullan's assurances that he was not driving. 

On the parties' cross-motions for summary judgment, the trial 

court (the Honorable Jeffrey Ramsdell) agreed with the City that the scope 

of its duty in supervising Mullan did not extend to independently verifying 
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that Mullan apply for an ignition interlock license (IIL) or install an 

ignition interlock device (IID) - licensing provisions that by statute are 

regulated and enforced by the State alone. The court ruled, however, that 

under Hertog it was a question of fact for the jury as to whether Ms. 

Lamond could be found grossly negligent for not doing more during her 

brief supervision of Mullan to ensure that he was not driving. The court 

did not address, either on summary judgment or on the City's motion for 

reconsideration, the City's argument as to proximate cause, but certified 

its order for discretionary review. 

While unquestionably tragic, this case should have been dismissed 

on core principles of tort law and legislative moves post-Hertog that have 

significantly changed both the source of a duty and the standard of care 

(from simple negligence to gross negligence) in a failure-to-supervise case 

against a municipality that chooses to offer probation services. 

Specifically, claims against Ms. Lamond arising out of her supervision of 

a first-time, misdemeanor DUI defendant necessarily fail for lack of a duty 

(under Whitehall v. King County, 140 Wn. App. 761, 167 P.3d 1184 

(2007)) and/or lack of sufficient evidence (under Kelley v. State, 104 Wn. 

App. 328, 333, 17 P.3d 1189 (2000)) when it is undisputed (1) that Ms. 

Lamond not only met but exceeded court expectations, set forth in policies 

promulgated pursuant to Administrative Rule for Courts of Limited 
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Jurisdiction (ARLJ) 11.1, for supervision of even a higher-level offender; 

and (2) Ms. Lamond never received any information concerning any 

probation violation, including any allegation that Mullan was drinking and 

driving, that she could have brought to the court's attention. Indeed, to the 

extent that the trial court hinged its finding on the foreseeability of 

Mullan's relapse, outside agency alcohol treatment records showed 

Mullan to be motivated and compliant with his treatment up to, and even 

including, the day of the crash at issue here. 

Moreover, even if (contrary to Whitehall) Ms. Lamond's failure to 

seek out collateral sources to verify the truthfulness of Mullan's 

assurances could support a finding of gross negligence, plaintiffs' claims 

against the City still fail for lack of causation under Bordon v. State, 122 

Wn. App. 227, 95 P.3d 764 (2004) - an argument that the City raised but 

the trial court did not address. Consistent with Bordon, the City submits 

that even had Ms. Lamond sought out (and found) collateral sources to 

verify Mullan's activities, it is wholly speculative to conclude (1) that such 

sources would have provided her contrary information concerning 

Mullan's behavior sufficient to provide articulable basis to bring to the 

court's attention, (2) that if she had such information, the court would 

have chosen to hold, and would have had opportunity to hold, a contested 

hearing on such allegations prior to the crash at issue here, and (3) that the 
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court would have found Mullan to be in violation of his probation and 

would have then taken action to incarcerate Mullan for a period of time 

that would have included the date of this crash - the only sure way to 

protect against the threat that any drunk driver may pose. 

The City shares the frustration and anger that Mullan's conduct has 

generated. But while this case highlights the unpredictable threat created 

by an unknowable subset of offenders who, like Mullan, will sidestep 

statutory licensing requirements, relapse on their treatment, and violate 

conditions of their judgment and sentence, to blame Mullan's actions on 

anyone other than Mullan alone is contrary to fundamental principles of 

tort law and public policy. Accordingly, the City respectfully requests that 

this court reverse the trial court's order denying the City's motion for 

summary judgment and remand this case for dismissal of all claims 

against the City. 

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. In Kelley v. State, 104 Wn. App. 328, 17 P.3d 1189 (2000), the 

Court of Appeals held that even repeated failures to make contact or 

follow up on known probation violations over multiple review periods 

were insufficient as a matter of law to establish gross negligence. In this 

case, where there is no evidence of any known probation violations or 

missed contacts, where one full review period had not yet elapsed, and 
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where affirmative reports from Mullan's treatment provider showed him 

to be current and compliant with this treatment up to and even including 

the day of this crash, the trial court erred in declining to dismiss the case, 

pursuant to Kelley, for lack of sufficient evidence as to gross negligence. 

2. Post-Hertog, the scope of a municipal probation department's duty 

to supervise is determined by policies that are promulgated at the 

discretion of individual courts, pursuant to ARLJ 11. In Whitehall v. King 

County, 140 Wn. App. 761, 167 P.3d 1189 (2000), this Court recognized 

that probation counselors do not have a duty to undertake investigatory 

actions that are outside the scope of court policy. In ruling that a jury 

could find Ms. Lamond to be grossly negligent by not undertaking to 

further verify the truth of Mullan's assurances, the trial court erred. 

3. In Bordon v. State, 122 Wn. App. 226, 95 P.3d 764 (2004), this 

Court reversed a jury verdict against the State, holding that an expert's 

speculation and conjecture as to how a court would rule in response to a 

known probation violation could not be a basis for a jury finding on 

proximate cause. Here, by sidestepping the City's arguments under 

Bordon and thus leaving it to a jury to speculate, based on the opinions of 

that same expert, that this crash would not have occurred had Ms. Lamond 
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brought heretofore unknown probation violations to the court's attention, 

the trial court erred. 

II. ISSUES PRESENTED 

1. Whether the trial court erred in ruling that a reasonable jury could 

find that Ms. Lamond failed to exercise even slight care in her supervision 

of Mullan when, following a meeting she need not have called in the first 

place, she did not further undertake to seek out collateral sources to verify 

the truthfulness ofMullan's assurances that he was not driving; 

2. Whether the trial court erred when it ruled that the duty owed by a 

municipal probation counselor could be expanded to include obligations 

not contemplated under court policies promulgated pursuant to ARLJ 11; 

3. Whether the trial court erred in sidestepping its obligations under 

Civil Rule 56 with respect to the City's arguments on proximate cause, 

thus implicitly leaving it to a jury to speculate as to how Ms. Lamond and 

the court might together have prevented this crash, aided only by 

conclusory and speculative expert opinions that, the court conceded, may 

be inadmissible at trial and thus improper under CR 56( e ). 

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

a. MULLAN'S PRIOR ARREST AND ADJUDICATION 

On December 25, 2012, three months prior to the crash at issue 

here, Seattle police officers responded to a report that a driver had crashed 
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into the Seals Motel on Aurora Ave. N. and was attempting to leave the 

scene. When officers arrived, they found the vehicle stopped near the exit 

to the motel parking lot and the driver, Mark Mullan, slumped over the 

steering wheel. Breath alcohol tests showed alcohol concentrations well 

over the legal limit. CP 62-65. On January 7, 2013, Mullan entered a plea 

of guilty to a charge of DUI (SMC 11.56.020). CP 310-13. 

Seattle Municipal Court Judge Steven Rosen entered the Judgment 

and Sentence (J&S) on a form from the Administrative Office of the 

Courts (AOC) that follows the sentencing grid as then set forth in the 

Criminal Rules for Courts of Limited Jurisdiction. See CrRLJ (2013) 4.2 

(Washington Court Rules 2013, p. 687); CP 306-08 at ,-i 5. Consistent 

with RCW 46.61.5055 and 46.20.720(2) as then in effect, the sentencing 

grid required that a defendant like Mullan with no prior offenses 1 within 

seven years: (1) comply with ignition interlock restrictions as imposed by 

the Department of Licensing (DOL); and (2) obtain alcohol/drug 

education and/or treatment as ordered by the court. The J&S in this case 

1 A prior offense is defined as a conviction on all offenses where the arrest date of the 
prior offense occurred within seven years before or after the arrest date on the current 
offense. See RCW 46.61.5055(14)(a); CrRLJ 4.2 at fn. 1. Although at the time of his 
sentencing Mullan had a separate DUI charge pending in Snohomish County following 
an arrest on October 8, 2012, that matter had not yet been adjudicated, and thus could not 
be considered an "offense" for purposes of sentencing. See also State v. Castle, 156 Wn. 
App. 539, 234 P.3d 260 (2010) (pending DUI charges that have not been reduced to final 
judgment are not "prior offenses" within the meaning of the statute). 
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followed the AOC form order and required that Mullan, as mandatory 

conditions of his sentence: 

• Not drive a motor vehicle without a valid license and proof of 
insurance; 

• Incur no criminal violations of law or alcohol related infractions; 

• Comply with mandatory ignition interlock device requirements as 
imposed by the Department of Licensing; and 

• Comply with the requirement to apply for an ignition interlock driver's 
license and to install an ignition interlock device on all vehicles 
operated by the defendant as required by the Department of 
Licensing[,](RCW 46.20.720(2), 46.20.385, and RCW 46.61.5055(5), 
(6).2 

CP 315-17 (emphases supplied). The court further imposed, as additional 

conditions of his sentence, the requirements that Mullan 

• Submit to probation for 60 months (24 months supervised); 

• Obtain an alcohol/drug evaluation from an approved agency, and 
begin any recommended treatment or education per probation 
schedules; 

• Within 180 days, complete a DUI victim's panel; and 

• Use no alcoholic beverages, non-prescribed drugs, or marijuana. 

Id (Emphases supplied). 

2 The J&S did not require an ignition interlock device other than as regulated by the 
Department of Licensing pursuant to RCW 46.20.385. CP 316. The trial court ruled that 
the City's obligations in supervising Mullan did not extend to verifying that he had 
installed an ignition interlock device. The Schultes did not seek discretionary review of 
this ruling. 
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b. THE PROBATION DEPARTMENT'S ROLE AND SUPERVISION 

OF MARK MULLAN 

To put plaintiffs' claims against the City in proper context, it is 

important to understand ( 1) the nature and extent of the services that a 

probation department provides to misdemeanor defendants and the court; 

and (2) the policies, procedures and timelines that guide Seattle Municipal 

Court probation counselors in the performance of their duties. As to these 

inquiries, the following undisputed facts are material. 

i. OBLIGATIONS OF MUNICIPAL COURT PROBATION 

DEPARTMENTS ARE DEFINED BY INDIVIDUAL 

COURTS 

Unlike the State Department of Corrections' Community Custody 

program, which is created and directed by statute (see RCW 72.04A et 

seq.; RCW 9.94A et seq.), misdemeanor probation departments are 

established solely at the discretion of individual courts pursuant to ARLJ 

11.1. This rule provides: 

A misdemeanor probation department, if a court elects to establish 
one, is an entity that provides services designed to assist the court 
in the management of criminal justice and thereby aid in the 
preservation of public order and safety. . . . The method of 
providing these services shall be established by the presiding judge 
of the local court to meet the specific needs of the court. 

(Emphases supplied). If established, misdemeanor probation departments 

provide the services set forth generally in ARLJ 11.2(b ), which includes, 

in relevant part, the following: 
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(2) For offenders referred to the misdemeanant probation 
department, determine their risk to the community using a 
standardized classification system with a minimum of 
monthly face-to-face interviews for offenders classified at 
the highest level. 

(3) Evaluate offenders' social problems, amenability to 
different types of treatment programs, and determine 
appropriate referral. 

(4) Supervise offenders with face-to-face interviews depending 
on risk classification system. 

( 5) Oversee community agencies providing services required 
of offenders with input to the judicial officer (e.g. 
alcohol/drug, domestic violence, sexual deviancy, and 
mental illness). 

Pursuant to ARLJ 11.1, Seattle Municipal Court has policies and 

procedures that guide probation counselors in the intake, risk assignment, 

and supervision of misdemeanor defendants. CP 243-50 at ~ 4. 

Consistent with ARLJ 11.2, the court has directed Seattle's probation 

department (Probation) to focus its efforts specifically towards (1) 

assisting the courts in decision making through probation reports and in 

the enforcement of court orders; (2) providing services and programs that 

afford opportunities for offenders to change behavior; and (3) brokering 

community referrals for therapeutic intervention programs including 

substance abuse, mental health, domestic violence, homelessness and 
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unemployrnent.3 CP 105, 107; 239-42 at ~ 7. The Seattle Municipal 

Court's focus on addressing behavioral change through facilitating access 

to services is consistent with the evolving practices in the field of 

community corrections nationally. CP 186-238 at p. 7. 

ii. PROBATION'S RESPONSIBILITIES DEPEND ON THE 

NATURE OF THE CONDITION 

A probation counselor's responsibilities with respect to conditions 

of a defendant's probation, and the methods for carrying out its 

responsibilities, depend on the nature of each particular condition. The 

court distinguishes between active and passive conditions of an offender's 

sentence in terms of Probation's monitoring role. Conditions that require 

a defendant to take affirmative actions in order to bring himself into 

compliance with specific requirements of his sentence are deemed 

"active" conditions. With respect to active conditions that fall within the 

3 RCW 10.64.120 requires the Administrative Office of the Courts (AOC) to "define a 
probation department." Separate from ARLJ 11.1 but consistent with the Seattle 
Municipal Court's probation program, the AOC explains as follows: 

A probation counselor administers programs that provide pre-sentence 
investigations, supervision and probationary treatment for misdemeanant 
offenders in a district or municipal court. Probation counselors can make 
sentencing recommendations to the court, including appropriate treatment (i.e. 
drug and alcohol counseling) that an offender should receive. The probation 
counselor periodically advises the district/municipal court judges of an 
offender's progress while the offender is on supervision. 

http://www.courts. wa. gov /news in fo/resources/?fa=news info jury .display &altMen u=C iti 
&folderID=jury guide&fileID=limited#P37 5984. 
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scope of Probation's purview under ARLJ 11.2 (providing services, 

programs, and community referrals for behavioral intervention programs), 

probation counselors are expected to monitor compliance with timelines 

set at the time of intake. In that way the probation officer can measure an 

offender's progress towards completing or satisfying a required condition 

within whatever timeframe the court has ordered. CP 243-50 at ,-i 7. 

In contrast, "passive" conditions are ongoing obligations on the 

part of the offender to abstain or refrain from particular conduct. 

Obligations to abstain from consuming drugs or alcohol, not to drive 

without a valid license, and to refrain from incurring any new criminal law 

violations are examples of passive conditions. Probation officers are 

expected to report to the court violations of such conditions "when 

presented with specifically articulable reason(s) to believe a violation of 

probation conditions occurred," but probation counselors do not otherwise 

track defendants' whereabouts or activities, or otherwise affirmatively act, 

to ensure that a defendant does not lapse into prohibited behavior. CP 

109-11; 243-50 at ,-i 8. Nor does the court have any expectation that 

probation counselors will do so. CP 239-42 at ,-i 6; CP 74 p. 20. 

With respect to Mullan, Ms. Lamond's role was specific to 

conditions of sentencing that were directed towards behavior modification 

and treatment. CP 107-09. The court expected that Ms. Lamond would 
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monitor Mullan's compliance with active conditions of his sentence that 

(1) required him to obtain a chemical dependency evaluation through a 

State-certified facility, (2) enroll in any alcohol abstention, treatment and 

recovery programs that facility might recommend, and (3) participate in a 

DUI Victim's Panel within 180 days of his sentence. The court did not 

task Ms. Lamond with ensuring Mullan's compliance with DOL licensing 

requirements (either applying for an IIL or obtaining an IID)4 or taking 

affirmative steps to ensure his compliance with passive conditions of his 

sentence (obligations to abstain from alcohol and drug use and not drive 

without a valid license). CP 95-96, 97-100. 5 

iii. PROBATION'S INTERACTIONS WITH MULLAN 

a. MULLAN'S INT AKE 

When a defendant first enters the probation system, he is assigned 

a probation counselor, who will meet with him, review sentencing 

conditions, and provide information about agencies or services that relate 

to conditions of probation. The probation counselor is expected to review 

4 CP142-43, 147, 151, 164;CP243-250at~~4.19;CP239-42at~6. 

5 Judge Rosen, the sentencing judge testified that he did not expect Probation to "monitor 
compliance" with ignition interlock restrictions imposed as part of the J&S. CP 73-74, 77. 
He testified that his primary reasons for ordering supervised probation were so that the court 
would be able to monitor conditions relating to chemical dependency treatment and a victim's 
impact panel. CP 77-78; 239-42 at~ 6. 
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the court docket, conduct a criminal records check, and schedule an intake 

appointment to be completed within 30 days of the sentencing date. 

At intake, a probation counselor will: 

• Interview the off ender to gather information on the offender's 
treatment history, criminal history, and life situation; 

• Review the probation information sheet with the offender; 

• Review the probation agreement and explain the probation conditions, 
including (1) probation staffs supervisory role; (2) the offender's 
responsibilities, and (3) consequences of violations; 

• If chemical dependency evaluation or treatment is ordered, (1) provide 
a list of treatment programs or agencies, (2) give the offender a 
deadline to make the selection and to provide probation with the name 
of the agency and the target start date (ordinarily, an offender is given 
30-60 days to select an agency and complete an assessment), and (3) 
have the offender sign a release of information form once an agency 
has been selected; 

• Administer a risk/needs assessment through the municipal court's 
automated tracking system to determine the appropriate supervision 
classification system for that defendant; and 

• Set target dates for completing assignments and explain reporting 
expectation and requirements according to supervision guidelines for 
the offender's classification level. 

CP 252-59. 

In Mullan's case, Probation scheduled his intake for 2:30 p.m. on 

January gth - less than 24 hours after his sentencing. CP 243-50 at ~ 9. 

Ms. Lamond, who was assigned to Mullan, met with Mullan and reviewed 

his court-ordered obligations, the Seattle Municipal Court Information

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