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

ARGUMENT

A. The standard of review is de novo.

In reviewing a summary judgment order in a negligent-

supervision case, this Court makes the same inquiries as the trial

court, whether there are genuine issues of material fact and whether

the moving party (the City) is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

Hertog, 138 Wn.2d at 275 (citing CR 56(c) and Taggart v. State,

118 Wn.2d 195, 199, 822 P.2d 243 (1992)). The Court considers the

facts and reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the

nonmoving party (the Schultes) and reviews questions of law de

novo. Hertog, 138 Wn.2d at 275.

B. The Court has improvidently granted review of a denial of
summary judgment, and should summarily reverse its
acceptance of review and remand for trial.

"Parties generally may not appeal a denial of a motion for

summary judgment" unless they both stipulate to do so. Tapps

Brewing, Inc. v. City of Sumner, 106 Wn. App. 79, 82, 22 P.3d 280

(2001). There is no such stipulation here. As the above Statement of

the Case and the following arguments make clear, there are

numerous genuine issues of material fact in this case. The Court has

improvidently granted review. See generally Dwyer, et aI., The

Confusing Standards for Discretionary Review in Washington and a
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Proposed Framework for Clarity, 38 SEATTLE UNIV. L. REV. 91, 101 &

n.64 (2014) ("courts have frequently lamented that discretionary

review has been improvidently granted").

This Court should deny review and remand for trial. Any legal

issues lurking here should be addressed on a full record after trial,

not on summary judgment. It is unwise to make fine distinctions

between the facts necessary to prove negligence, on the one hand,

and those necessary to prove gross negligence, on the other, on a

paper record. Juries commonly make fine factual distinctions.

Review should await a full record and a jury's decision.

C. Although the City conceded its duty to supervise Mullan
in the trial court, it now attempts to argue a lack of a duty,
ignoring the ramifications of controlling law.

In the trial court, the City conceded that it had a duty to

supervise Mullan. RP 16 ("We do not dispute that we had a duty with

respect to our supervision of Mark Mullan"). Yet it here argues for the

first time that "claims against Ms. Lamond [sic]2 arising out of her

supervision of a first-time, [sicP misdemeanor DUI defendant

necessarily fail for lack of a duty." SA 2. The Court should not

consider this new argument first (cursorily) raised on appeal. See,

2 Ms. Lamond is not a defendant: the City is.

3 Mullan had many prior drunk-driving offenses. CP 1969-70.

25



e.g., RAP 2.5(a). And while the City belittles controlling law regarding

the nature and scope of its duty, that Supreme Court precedent

(discussed infra) remains controlling.

The supervisory relationship between parole officers and

parolees creates a "take charge" relationship to control the parolee

and protect anyone who might reasonably be endangered by the

parolee's dangerous propensities. Taggart, 118 Wn.2d at 219-224.

This constitutes a "special relationship" under the RESTATEMENT

(SECOND) OF TORTS § 315 (1965). Id. at 219. It gives rise to a duty to

protect the public from foreseeable harms. Id. at 224.

The judgment and sentence or other court order establish a

"take charge" relationship between parole officer and parolee. Joyce

v. State, 155 Wn.2d 306, 318, 119 P.3d 825 (2005); Bishop v.

Miche, 137 Wn.2d 518, 526, 973 P.2d 465 (1999); Estate ofBordon

v. State, 122 Wn. App. 227, 236, 95 P.3d 764 (2004); see also,

Hertog, 138 Wn.2d 277 n.3. Statutes that authorize and empower

supervision also create that relationship. Id. at 219-220; Joyce, 155

Wn.2d at 317; Couch v. State, 113 Wn. App. 556, 565, 54 P.3d 197

(2002). And the supervising agency's own rules and regulations

governing supervision may also create a take-charge relationship.

Bishop, 137 Wn.2d at 528.
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Our Supreme Court has directly imposed upon the City of

Seattle and its probation counselors this duty to control municipal

court probationers and to protect others from reasonably foreseeable

harms resulting from probationers' dangerous propensities. Hertog,

138 Wn.2d at 281. There, an offender on Seattle Municipal Court

probation supervision for lewd conduct raped a six-year old. Id. at

268. Finding a duty, the Court rejected the City's repeated attempts

- which continue here - to evade Taggart:

The City maintains that Taggart and Savage were wrongly
decided and should be overruled because parole officers do
not have any real control over the day to day lives and actions
of parolees. However, this same argument was carefully
considered and rejected in Taggart. Further, our decision in
Taggart expressly stated that the Legislature could limit or
eliminate the duty recognized there by passing legislation
granting further immunity. Taggart, 118 Wn.2d at 224 ....
The Legislature has not enacted such legislation.

Hertog, 138 Wn.2d at 278 (some cites omitted). The Legislature still

has not enacted such legislation.

The City nonetheless continues its decades-long effort to

evade Taggart, albeit in the guise of arguing that the Legislature's

adoption of a "gross negligence" standard removes its Hertog duty

to actually supervise its probationers. As further discussed below,

once the special relationship exists, the City owes a duty of care and

may be liable when damages result. Joyce, 155 Wn.2d at 310. And
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once the duty exists, it is for the jury to decide whether the injury was

reasonably foreseeable, even under a gross-negligence regime.

Joyce, 155 Wn.2d at 316-17; Nist v. Tudor, 67 Wn.2d 322, 332,407

P.2d 798 (1965). Thus, contrary to one of the City's inconsistent

contentions, it had a duty to supervise Mullan's compliance with all

conditions Judge Rosen imposed, as he expected the City to do.

Nothing the City cites permits it to evade its Hertog duties.

D. The trial court correctly found a triable issue of fact.

The City first claims that it will argue that Judge Ramsdell

erred in finding a genuine issue of material fact. SA 28 (heading S).

Yet it actually argues that (1) Taggart and Hertog have somehow

been narrowed (or perhaps overruled) by an administrative rule for

courts of limited jurisdiction (ARLJ 11) (SA 28-30); and (2) Taggart

and Hertog have somehow been obviated (or overruled) by two

Court of Appeals decisions, Kelley, 104 Wn. App. 328, and

Whitehall, 140 Wn. App. 761. SA 30-41. Neither of these sub

arguments has merit. The trial court correctly found genuine issues

of material fact for trial.
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1. The trial court correctly found that whether the City
exercised even slight care is a triable issue of fact in
light of the expert testimony.

Probation experts Dan Hall and William Stough identified

numerous critical areas where PO Lamond failed to use any care, let

alone slight care, in supervising Mullan (supra, Proc. Hist. § 2):

(a) Ignoring Mullan's drinking and driving;

(b) failing to make any contact with Lakeside Milam;

(c) ignoring the IlL and 110 requirements;

(d) failing to do any follow up on Mullan's pending Snohomish
County charges; and

(e) making no collateral contacts.

Both experts thus concluded that Lamond failed to exercise any care,

let alone slight care. This is ample evidence on which to base a

triable issue of fact. The City's tactical decision simply to ignore this

evidence is unavailing.

Indeed, the City admits that Taggart and Hertog place a duty

of supervision directly upon the City of Seattle's probation

department. BA 29. And despite its assertion (noted above) that the

Schultes' claims "fail for lack of a duty" (BA 2), the City nonetheless

"does not dispute that the general rule articulated in Taggart and

Hertog continues to apply." BA 30. The latter point is correct.

The City then claims that ARLJ 11 and RCW 4.24.760(1) have

"changed the inquiry as to the scope of duty and the standard of care
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that is owed, from simple negligence (reasonable care) to gross

negligence (slight care)." BA 30. But as discussed infra, ARLJ 11

does not alleviate the City's duty to monitor probationers - it

reinforces that duty. And while the statute does set the standard at

gross negligence, it does not transform negligence from a fact

question into a legal question. The City's claims lack merit.

2. ARLJ 11 neither overrules/displaces Taggart and
Hertog, nor says what the City claims.

The City presents an argumentative version of ARLJ 11 in its

Statement of the Case. BA 9-13. But it fails to present any legal

argument as to how an administrative court rule like ARLJ 11 could

possibly overrule or displace the substantive law established in

Taggart, Hertog, Joyce, or in any other case. No authority supports

the City's topsy-turvy legal regime. Taggart, et al., are controlling.

Moreover, court rules do not overrule binding precedent sub

silentio, but rather a rule's authors state when they intend to do so.

cr., e.g., State v. Olmos, 129 Wn. App. 750, 756, 120 P.3d 139

(2005) (authors stated intent to displace existing precedent). The

City proffers no authors' comments or legislative history (from RCW

10.64.120, which required the Office of the Administrator of Courts

(OAC) to define "probation department" and to adopt rules for
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probation officers). The Schultes have found nothing suggesting that

the Legislature or the rules' authors intended to overrule or otherwise

displace raggatt and its progeny, which remain controlling.

Nor does ARLJ 11 say what the City claims, or function (or fail

to function) as the City asserts. SA 9-12. As noted, the Legislature

mandated ARLJ 11. RCW 10.64.120(2) (GAC "shall define a

probation department and adopt rules for the qualifications of

probation officers"). It also created an oversight committee to specify

probation-officer training and services, requiring them (among other

things) to conduct investigations, to recommend release conditions,

and to "provide ongoing supervision and assessment of the

offenders' needs and the risk they pose to the community" (id.;

paragraphing altered):

The oversight committee shall consider qualifications that
provide the training and education necessary to

(a) conduct presentencing and postsentencing background
investigations, including sentencing recommendations to
the court regarding jail terms, alternatives to incarceration,
and conditions of release; and .

(b) provide ongoing supervision and assessment of
offenders' needs and the risk they pose to the community.

The rules that RCW 10.64.120 requires were adopted in ARLJ

11 in 2001, with the following salient authors' comments:
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The 1996 Washington State Legislature mandated that the
OAC adopt rules relating to the operation of local
misdemeanant probation departments....

In summary, the rule defines what constitutes a
misdemeanant probation department under the statute. In
addition, the rule establishes the types of services that may
only be performed by professional probation officers, as
opposed to clerical staff, and it establishes the education and
training requirements for both probation officers arid probation
clerks.

See 4B Karl B. Tegland, WASHINGTON PRACTICE: RULES PRACTICE,

ARLJ 11.3, Author's Comments at 202-04 (7th ed. 2008). Thus,

"misdemeanant probation department" is defined in ARLJ 11.1:

A misdemeanant probation department, if a court elects to
establish one,4 is an entity that provides services designed to
assist the court in the management of criminal justice and
thereby aid in the preservation of pUblic order and safety. This
entity may consist of probation officers and probation clerks.
The method of providing these services shall be established
by the presiding judge of the local court to meet.the specific
needs of the court.

This last sentence (which the City also underlines) must be viewed

in light of the following Author's Comment:

Misdemeanant probation departments vary tremendously in
the types of services offered and the method of delivering
those services. In recognition of this fact, the presiding
judge of the local court is granted authority under the rule to
determine what services will be offered and how they will be
delivered. Nevertheless, a department is still required to

4 The City underlines this phrase, but it never explains the significance of
its emphasis. SA 9. The City undisputedly has a probation department.
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structure its services so that it will assist the court in the
management of criminal justice with the intent of aiding
in the preservation of public order and safety.

Tegland, supra, at 203 (emphases added). In other words, while the

presiding judge is given some administrative leeway due to the

variability of probation services, a department is still required to

provide services that will actually protect the pUblic. Id.

For instance, ARLJ 11.2 specifies both a probation officer's

qualifications and her "core services" (underlines added):

(a) Probation Officer Qualifications.

(1) A minimum of a bachelor of arts or bachelor of science
degree that provides the necessary education and skills in
dealing with complex legal and human issues, as well as
competence in making decisions and using discretionary
judgment. ...

(2) Counseling skills necessary to evaluate and act on
offender crisis, assess offender needs, motivate offenders,
and make recommendations to the court.

(3) Education and training necessary to communicate
effectively, both orally and in writing, to interview and
counsel offenders with a wide variety of offender problems,
including but not limited to alcoholism, domestic violence,
mental illness, sexual deviancy; to testify in court, to
communicate with referral resources, and to prepare legal
documents and reports.

(b) Probation Officer - Core Services.

(1) Conduct pre/post-sentence investigations with face to
face interviews and extensive research that includes but is
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not limited to criminal history, contact with victims,
personal history, social and economic needs, community
resource needs, counseling/treatment needs, work history,
family and employer support, and complete written
pre/post-sentence reports, which includes sentencing
recommendations to the court.

(2) For offenders referred to the misdemeanant probation
department, determine their risk to the community using a
standardized classification system with a minimum of
monthly face to face interviews for offenders classified at
the highest level.

(3) Evaluate offenders' social problems, amenability to
different types of treatment programs, and determine
appropriate referral.

(4) Supervise offenders with face to face interviews
depending on risk classification system.

(5) Oversee community agencies providing services
required of offenders with input to the judicial officer (e.g.
alcohol/drug, domestic violence, sexual deviancy, and
mental illness).

In light of the detailed requirements imposed under ARLJ

11.2, it is quite remarkable for the City to assert that "there are no

statutes or administrative code provisions that authorize or direct

municipal court probation counselors in their duties." BA 29. This is

narrowly accurate, but irrelevant, where ARLJ 11 provides ample

authorization and direction. But the City's apparent assertion that a

local judge may simply dispense with supervision not only lacks legal

support, it lacks candor.
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3. The City's "active/passive" supervIsIon distinction
appears nowhere in any of the controlling rules or
authorities, and proves the City's gross negligence.

The clearest example of the City's troubling assertions is its

baseless claim that a local judge may make a distinction between

"active" and "passive" supervision in order to evade ARLJ 11.2's

detailed and specific requirements, and those of Taggart and its

progeny. BA 11-13. This Court will note that this is a "fact" argument,

citing no legal authority. /d. It is also false.

Under the City's ersatz construct, it may disclaim all

responsibility for monitoring or supervising any condition in Mullan's

Judgment and Sentence that required City oversight for his drinking,

driving, valid driver's license, insurance, and ignition-interlock device.

Yet the court imposed those precise conditions specifically to

minimize and control the severe risk that Mullan posed to the public

based on his known dangerous propensities. CP 77-78. Indeed,

before the City's "active v. passive" construct surfaced, the

sentencing Judge, Steven Rosen, explained that he had ordered

active monitored probation for Mullan based the overall risk he posed

to the public, including Mullan's alcoholic appearance, age,

extremely high BACs (.322 and .328), and the pending charge in

Snohomish County. Id. He ordered Mullan to be monitored. Id.

35



Rather than follow this express order, the City's Probation

Department Supervisor, Richard Hume, preferred an alleged "active

v. passive" distinction: an "edict" in an undisclosed memo from an

unspecified judge. CP 2067. 5 Under this dubious edict, Mullan's

probation counselor would open activities for Mullan's 110 and ilL

conditions, but then would perform no follow up because they are

somehow "passive" conditions. CP 2069-70. Hume agreed that

Mullan had a serious drinking problem and that he presented a risk

of reoffending by continuing to drink and drive. CP 2070. Despite this,

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